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IN THE UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF KANSAS

MYESHA CHAMBERS,

Plaintiff,

V. Case No. 12-1179-EFM

SIMON PROPERTY GROUP, L.P., and
IPC INTERNATIONAL CORP.,

Defendants.

MEMORANDUM AND ORDER

Plaintiff Myesha Chambers brought suit agaiDefendants Simon épyerty Group, L.P.,
and IPC International Corp. for allegedly disunatory treatment she received while shopping
at the Towne East Square Mall in Wichita, Kasis Chambers allegesvmlation of 42 U.S.C.
§ 1981, public accommodation discrimination, angligent hiring and supervision. Defendants
move to dismiss the complaint féailure to state a claim, or ithe alternative, request that
Chambers submit a more definite statemenhef claims. Because Chambers has failed to
present plausible claims, the Couragis Defendants’ motion to dismiss.

l. Factual and Procedural Background

Plaintiff Myesha Chambers alleges the faling facts in her lawsuit against Defendants

Simon Property Group, L.P., and IPC International Corp. Chambers visited the Towne East

Square Mall on the afternoon of Septemhd, 2010. While shopping, a male Caucasian
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security guard employed by Defendants approa@temmbers as she was leaving a department
store and told her to pull uper pants. Chambers asseitat her pants “conformed with
acceptable societal norms and did not expose any body parts.” Chambers walked away from the
security guard, who allegedlylfowed her down the hallway mailg “ridiculing comments” to
other patrons and saying that Chambers wagriakhe walk of shame.” When Chambers
attempted to board an elevatthre guard blocked her path anteatpted to physically turn her

in another direction. The guard followed Chamheran escalator “whileontinuing to barrage
her with words and actions of derogatory, itiegl, belittling, and offensie nature.” The guard
then handcuffed Chambers, who began to nzakeene in the hopes that another patron would
come to her aid. Two or three other male sgcguards tackled Gimbers to the ground and
brought her to an office withithe mall, where the guards seadher belongingahile denying
Chambers access to her phone.

When Chambers’s mother came to the mall to pick her up, the guards took Chambers’s
photograph and removed the handcuffs. The guafdemed Chambers that she was prohibited
from entering the mall and the surrounding busses for a period of one year. Chambers
alleges that she “was wrongfullpuched, handled, and detainkyg the adult male security
guards” and that she suffered lacerations, bsyisgfensive contact,” and emotional pain and
suffering.

Chambers filed her initial Complaint against Defendants on May 16, 2011. Chambers
asserts three grounds for recovery: (1) racialrisignation in violationof 42 U.S.C. § 1981, (2)
public accommodation discriminati; and (3) negligence (seemingh the form of negligent

hiring and respondeat superior).



Defendants filed their first motion to dismigsder Rule 12(b)(6) of the Federal Rules of
Civil Procedure or, alternatively, motion fa more definite statement under Rule 12(e).
Defendants first argued that Chambers didestéblish a claim under 8 1981 because Chambers
did not allege facts sufficientb show (1) that Defendantstémded to discriminate against
Chambers on the basis of race, and (2) that S8eidiination interfered ith a protected activity.
Second, Defendants contended that Chambers’s claim of “public accommodation discrimination”
is not a recognized cause otian. Finally, Defendants argugldat Chambers has not properly
pleaded a claim of negligence because she didpexify how Defendantsreached any duty of
care.

Chambers filed a response to the initial motio dismiss, and she also moved to amend
her Complaint, which the Court granted. Chamldéded an Amended Complaint on August 8,
2012. The Amended Complaint mirrors the iniCdmplaint with the sole exception being that
Chambers correctly named Simon Property Grdup,, as a defendant, rather than Simon
Property Group, Inc. Defendants then filed aoselcmotion to dismiss and referred the Court to
their earlier memorandum for legal arguments.

. Legal Standard

Under Rule 12(b)(6) of the Beral Rules of Civil Proceder a defendant may move for

dismissal of any claim for whictine plaintiff has failed to state claim upon which relief can be

granted® Upon such motion, the court must decfdénether the complaint contains ‘enough

! SeeFed. R. Civ. P. 12(e) (“A party may move for a more definite statement of a pleading kbavhic

responsive pleading is allowed but which is so vague or ambiguous that the party cannaebleasepare a
response.”).

2 Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6).



facts to state a claim to religfat is plausible on its face®”A claim is facially plausible if the
plaintiff pleads facts sufficient for the court to reasbly infer that the defendant is liable for the
alleged misconduét. The plausibility standard reflectsetiequirement in Rule 8 that pleadings
provide defendants with fair notice of the natofeclaims as well the grounds on which each
claim rests. Under 12(b)(6), the court must accept tase all factual allegations in the
complaint, but need not afford suatpresumption to legal conclusichd/iewing the complaint
in this manner, the court must decide whetherpllaatiff's allegations gre rise to more than
speculative possibilities.If the allegations in the complaiare “so general that they encompass
a wide swath of conduct, much of it innocengrtithe plaintiffs ‘have not nudged their claims
across the line from conceivable to plausibfe.”
1. Analysis

Defendants contend that Chamb&ated to allege facts sufficient to establish her three
claims for relief: (1) 42 U.S.C. 8§ 1981,)(public accommodation discrimination, and (3)
negligence. For the followingeasons, the Court agrees and finds that Chambers’s claims must

be dismissed under Rule 12(b)(6).

3 Ridge at Red Hawk, LLC v. Schneidé®3 F.3d 1174, 1177 (10th Cir. 2007) (quotBejl Atlantic
Corp. v. Twombly550 U.S. 544, 570 (2007}ee also Ashcroft v. Iqha56 U.S. 662, 678 (2009).

4 Igbal, 556 U.S. at 678 (citinfwombly 566 U.S. at 556).

>  See Robbins v. Oklahom&19 F.3d 1242, 1248 (10th Cir. 2008) (citations omitted alsded. R.
Civ. P. 8(a)(2).

® Igbal, 556 U.S. at 678-79.

" Seeidat 678 (“The plausibility standard is not akin to a ‘probability requirement,’ but it asks for more

than a sheer possibility that a defendarst&ated unlawfully.” (Citation omitted)).

8 Robbins 519 F.3d at 1247 (quotingvombly 550 U.S. at 570).



A. Violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1981

Chambers claims that Defendants violatl U.S.C. § 1981 when the white guards
mistreated Chambers, a black customer. 8edbP81 guarantees “the samght . . . to make
and enforce contracts, to sue, be parties, give evidence, and to the full and equal benefit of all
laws and proceedings for the security of pessand property as is enjoyed by white citizehs.”
To state a claim under § 1981, a plaintiff mugege facts that support each of the following
three elements: (1) the plaintiff is a memberaafacial minority; (2) te defendant intended to
discriminate on the basis of the plaintiff's raaad (3) the discrimination concerned one or more
activities enumerated in § 198%.Defendants in this case argue that Chambers has not pleaded
facts sufficient to show that she garove the second and third elements.

The second element of a § 1981 claim requiresiiis to allege tke existence of fact
that give rise to a reasonable inference thatd#fendant’s action was racially motivated. It is
insufficient to simply state that Chambess black and the security guards were white.
Chambers argues that she pleaded facts sufficient to show a racial animus because a white
security guard told her to pull up her pantShambers contends that low-waisted pants are “a
form of dress associated heavily with Afmic®mericans.” The Court agrees that because
common experience could plausibly support Chanbeangerence, her allegation satisfies the

requirements of notice pleading.

® 42 U.S.C. §1981(a).
10 See Hampton v. Dillard Dep’t Stores, In247 F.3d 1091, 1101-02 (10th Cir. 2001).
1 See Phillips v. Fished45 F. Supp. 552, 556 (D. Kan. 1977) (“The mere fact that plaintiffs are black

does not automatically entitle them taioh that anything that has happenedhtem has happened because they are
black.”).



But Chambers has not properly pleaded féutd would support théhird factor of her
8§ 1981 claim. Chambers claims that shopping at retail establishmeatprotected activity
under 8 1981 and Defendants deprived her of tiggat by banishing her from the mall and
surrounding area for one year. Section 1981 “leeapplied to discrimination claims arising
in the retail sector and restaurant indystvhen a contract has been establisHéd. The
established contract must, howevivolve the actual loss of coatt interest rather than the
possible loss of futurepportunities to contract. In the context of a tail transaction, therefore,
Chambers must demonstrate that “she wesially preventedrom making a purchasé®
Chambers’s complaint contains no allegatiorsd #he was prevented from making any specific
purchases. Because Chambers failed to plead $agficient to show a plausible claim as to
every element of § 1981, that claim mhstdismissed under Rule 12(b)(6).
B. Public Accommodation Discrimination

Chambers’'s second claim for relief assethat Defendants engaged in public
accommodation discrimination. Chambers doesaitet the source of this cause of action.
Instead, in her response to Dedants’ motion to dismiss this claim, Chambers states: “Plaintiff
makes claim under any and all statutest have been violated basen the facts explicitly state,
or that could reasonably be inferred from thienBut neither Defendants nor the Court are

required to divine the specific causes of acti@ing raised. A well-pleaded complaint must

12 Hampton 247 F.3d at 1102.
13 |d. at 1104 (citingVesley v. Don Stein Buick, Ind2 F. Supp. 2d 1192, 1200 (D. Kan. 1999)).

14 Wesley42 F. Supp. 2d at1201 (emplsaaidded) (ruling against a pltffis § 1983 claim because the
plaintiff failed to demonstrate that she was prevented from actually purchasing a car from thentefend

15 In fact, other than references to 42 U.S.C. § 18&1 one case associated vt claim, Chambers's

filings provide no citations whatsoever.



“give the defendant fair notice of what the claim is and the grounds upon which it'fests.”
Simply entitling the claim “public accommodation discrimination” does not inform Defendants,
or the Court, of the legal basis upon whicha@lbers’s claim rests. The only “public
accommodation discrimination” cases that theul€ is aware of are those brought under 42
U.S.C. § 2000a or the Equal Protection Clause of the Constitution. Chambers has not adequately
asserted a claim under § 2000a because skenbt alleged that she complied with the
notification requirement under § 2000a-3{t). And the Equal Protection Clause is not
implicated in Chambers’s complaint besatthere is no allegation of state actidoriTherefore,
Chambers’s claim of publi@accommodation discrimination rmsiube dismissed under Rule
12(b)(6) for failure to state a ctaiupon which relief can be granted.
C. Negligence

Chambers’s third claim alleges that Defemidaare liable under a negligence theory of
recovery. Chambers asserts that Defendaneddver a duty of reasonable care and breached
that duty by employing the guards who detair@dambers. Chambers also states in her

complaint that “[D]efendants are responsibletfa negligence of its employees and agents and

% Twombly 550 U.S. at 555 (citinGonley v. Gibsor855 U.S. 41, 47 (1957).

17 Section 2000a-3(c) states that when public modation discrimination iviolation of the Civil

Rights Act occurs in a state “which has a State or Izaalprohibiting such act or practice and establishing or
authorizing a State or local authoritydoant or seek relief from such praetior to institute @gminal proceedings

..., ho civil action may be brought . . . before the expiration of thirty days after written notice of such alleged act or
practice has been given to the approprigtate or local authority by registeretil or in person.” 42 U.S.C. §
2000a-3(c). Kansas is a state that grithidiscrimination in public accommodationSeeKan. Stat. Ann. § 44-
1009(c)(1). And the Kansas Act Against Discrimination empowers state officials to file complaihtsposes
criminal penalties.SeeKan. Stat. Ann. 88 44-1005(b), 44-1013. Therefore, Chambers was required to notify the
Kansas Human Rights Commission, in person or by registered mail, of the incident at the mah aradt theleast

30 days before filing this action with the Court.

18 See, e.g.Moose Lodge No. 107 v. Iryid07 U.S. 163, 172 (1972) (noting that the Equal Protection
Clause prohibits discriminatory action by the state, ‘tmmects no shield” againgtrivate conduct, “however
discriminatory or wrongful”).



the guards that attacked and detained [Chambers] were such agents and/or employees.” In other
words, although not explicitly stated, it appeamt tGhambers is alleging both negligent hiring
and respondeat superior.

The doctrine of negligent hiring and retent arises from aremployer’'s duty to use
reasonable care in the seleatiand retention of employeEs.An employer breaches that duty if
the employer knew or should have known that the employee was incompetent or unfit for the
position?® To survive a motion to dismiss a negligéiring claim, plaintifs must allege both
the employee’s incompetence or unfitness ardetimployer’s actual aronstructive knowledge
of such incompetence or unfithéss.Here, Chambers simply asserted in her Complaint that
“Defendants knew or should have known o€ tguard’'s propensity foviolence,” without
alleging the existence of any fadhat would suggest that the glidas a propensity for violence
or reasons that the Defendants should hkmewn of such allegk violent tendencie%.
Chambers’s mere recitation of the elements mégligent hiring claim are insufficient to survive

Defendants’ motion to dismiss.

¥ Plains Resources, Inc. v. Gapi82 P.2d 653, 662 (Kan. 1984).
2 gseeid.
2L See5 Kristine C. Karneziszauses of Actio§ 18 (2d ed. 2004).

“Propensity” is defined as “[a]n innate inclination” or “tendencyfie American Heritage Dictionary

of the English Languag#412 (5th ed. 2011). The single incident of alleged violence described in the Complaint is
insufficient to show that the guard has an innate inclination towards violence. Furthermore, the incident complained
of is not sufficient to show that Defendants should have known of any violentntéesldefore the incident
occurred.

2 See Twombly550 U.S. at 555 (“While a complaint attacked by a Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss does
not need detailed factual allegations, a plaintiff's obligatmprovide the ‘grounds’ of his ‘entitle[ment] to relief’
requires more than labels and conclusions, and a formmdeitation of the elements of a cause of action will not
do.” (Internal citations omitted)).



The doctrine of respondeat superior istidguishable from the doctrine of negligent
hiring in that the latter imposéiability for the employer’s negligence while respondeat superior
is a doctrine of vicarious liability that imposes liability on the employer for the negligence of
another. To prove negligence the part of an employer via mandeat superior, a plaintiff must
first prove that the employee or agent was negliffer@hambers’s Complaint does not include
any allegations that the guards owed Chamhbedsity of care, nor does the Complaint allege
facts explaining the manner in which Chamberkelses the guards breached a duty of care.
Therefore, Chambers has nobperly pleaded a claim of negligence. Because Chambers has
failed to state any claims for which this Cocan grant relief, this casnust be dismissed.

Furthermore, Chambers has shown that ondehier to produce a more definite statement
of her claims would be futile, thereby necessi@gtismissal with prejudice. “A dismissal with
prejudice is appropriate whereamplaint fails to state a claiunder Rule 12(b)(6) and granting
leave to amend would be futilé>” Chambers has already amemdier Complaint, and although
she was aware of Defendants’ arguments for dismissal atntieecfi amendment, Chambers
declined to address Defendants’ contentionstebd, Chambers simply altered the name of one
of the parties. And when responding to Deferislamotion to dismiss the Amended Complaint,
Chambers simply referred the Court to heriearesponse without making any statement that
would suggest she could cure any further defects in her pleadings. It would therefore be futile
for the Court to permit any further amendme@hambers’ claims are therefore dismissed with

prejudice.

24 gSee Conner v. Janed81 P.2d 1169, 1171 (Kan. 1999).

% Brereton v. Bountiful City Corp434 F.3d 1213, 1219 (10th Cir. 2006).



IT IS ACCORDINGLY ORDERED this 9th day of May, 2013, that Defendants’
Motion to Dismiss Amended Corgint (Doc. 17) is herebRANTED. Plaintiff's claims are
hereby dismissed with prejudice.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Defendants’ Motion t®ismiss (Doc. 9) is hereby
DISMISSED ASMOOT.

IT ISSO ORDERED.

ERIC F. MELGREN
WNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE
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